

# Annual Review of Nutrition The Placenta: A Maternofetal Interface

# Kimberly O'Brien and Yiqin Wang

Division of Nutritional Sciences, College of Human Ecology, Cornell University, Ithaca, New York, USA; email: koo4@cornell.edu, yw729@cornell.edu

Annu. Rev. Nutr. 2023. 43:301-25

The Annual Review of Nutrition is online at nutr.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-061121-085246

Copyright © 2023 by the author(s). This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited. See credit lines of images or other third-party material in this article for license information.



- www.annualreviews.org
- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media



#### Keywords

placenta, syncytiotrophoblast, histiotrophic nutrition, hemotrophic nutrition, placental mosaicism, nutrient transporters

#### Abstract

The placenta is the gatekeeper between the mother and the fetus. Over the first trimester of pregnancy, the fetus is nourished by uterine gland secretions in a process known as histiotrophic nutrition. During the second trimester of pregnancy, placentation has evolved to the point at which nutrients are delivered to the placenta via maternal blood (hemotrophic nutrition). Over gestation, the placenta must adapt to these variable nutrient supplies, to alterations in maternal physiology and blood flow, and to dynamic changes in fetal growth rates. Numerous questions remain about the mechanisms used to transport nutrients to the fetus and the maternal and fetal determinants of this process. Growing data highlight the ability of the placenta to regulate this maternofetal interface, greater insight into this unique organ and its impact on fetal development and long-term health has been obtained.

## Contents

INTRODUCTION	302
PLACENTAL DEVELOPMENT AND NUTRIENT TRANSPORT	303
Early Placental Development and Histiotrophic Nutrition	303
Spiral Artery Remodeling and Hemotrophic Nutrition	304
Placental Senescence and Nutrient Transfer	305
The Syncytiotrophoblast Is a Unique Nutrient Barrier	306
Factors That Influence Placental Nutrient Transport	306
MECHANISMS OF PLACENTAL NUTRIENT UPTAKE	307
Iron Transport—Receptor-Mediated Endocytosis	307
Placental Fatty Acid Transport—Diffusion and Active Transport	310
Amino Acid Transport—Accumulative Transporters/Exchangers/Facilitated	
Transport	311
Glucose Transport Across the Placenta—Facilitated Diffusion	313
PLACENTAL FUNCTION IN HEALTH AND DISEASE	314
Fetal Sex as a Modulating Factor of Placental Health	314
Placental Gene Pathways and Pregnancy Complications	315
Placental Tissue Heterogeneity	316
Trophoblast Cellular Mosaicism	317
FUTURE DIRECTIONS	318

## **INTRODUCTION**

The placenta is the first organ to form during pregnancy. This ephemeral organ is responsible for sustaining the pregnancy, protecting the fetus, regulating the delivery of all nutrients and gases, and eliminating fetal waste products across gestation. As data evolve, there is a growing recognition of the regulatory role this organ plays in controlling maternal and fetal metabolism and an increased appreciation of the consequences that manifest when maternal nutrient supply cannot support maternal, fetal, and placental requirements. Advances in research have provided new insights into early placental formation, and a growing body of research links early implantation events to subsequent placental health and function. Despite the key role this organ plays in fetal nutrient and gas exchange, many of the proteins and regulatory processes involved in placental nutrient trafficking remain poorly defined. Nutrients are initially delivered to the placenta via uterine glandular secretions before trophoblast remodeling of the maternal vasculature allows nutrients to be delivered to the placenta from maternal blood. Placental function is now known to be orchestrated by many cell types at the maternofetal interface and by maternal, placental, and fetally derived hormones and signaling molecules. In vitro and in vivo approaches have been employed to characterize nutrient partitioning between the mother, fetus, and placenta, but challenges inherent in undertaking these studies in humans have largely limited studies to those that can be undertaken at term or from pregnancies with complications that resulted in early delivery. Fetal sex is now recognized as an important factor to consider as it is increasingly associated with variability in transporter expression and placental efficiency, and mechanisms responsible for these observations are not well characterized. Finally, technological challenges have limited the ability to investigate the function of this organ in real time, but novel techniques and genomic approaches are producing greater insight into the regulatory roles of the placenta and the mechanisms involved in its ability to nourish the fetus across the gestational period.

#### PLACENTAL DEVELOPMENT AND NUTRIENT TRANSPORT

## Early Placental Development and Histiotrophic Nutrition

A fertilized zygote undergoes multiple divisions as it travels down the fallopian tube into the uterine cavity. By 6 days postconception (DPC), the zygote has grown and differentiated into a blastocyst comprised of an outer epithelial layer called the trophectoderm (TE) that will give rise to the placenta and a smaller inner cell mass that will develop into the embryo proper (7). At roughly 6 DPC, the blastocyst reaches the uterine cavity where it comes into contact with, attaches to, and invades the uterine endometrium (99). Cell-to-cell communication between the fetal and maternal tissues begins at this very first interaction. As the blastocyst invades the uterine endothelium to initiate placentation, the TE cells differentiate into cytotrophoblast (CTB) cells, and a primitive syncytium forms that will differentiate into the syncytiotrophoblast (STB). When fully developed, the STB functions as a 5- to  $6-\mu$ m barrier between maternal and fetal blood and has a total area of approximately 15 m<sup>2</sup> (23). The CTB cellular layer is found under the STB, and these cells serve as a functional stem cell pool that will give rise to extravillous trophoblast (EVT) or STB.

By ~9 DPC, the blastocyst is embedded in the decidua and obtains nutrients from uterine secretions (often referred to as uterine milk) produced by maternal uterine glands. Uterine glands secrete nutrients such as glycogen, lipid droplets, and glycoproteins, which can be utilized by the conceptus (4, 40, 73). This form of nutrient provision, which is not delivered via the maternal vascular supply, is referred to as histiotrophic nutrition. At this stage of development, lacunae begin to form in the syncytium, and these fill with blood from ruptured endometrial capillaries (Figure 1*a*). The trophoblast itself may help activate the uterine glands by secreting lactogenic hormones (116). The embryonic yolk sac forms between 8 and 14 DPC. In early embryogenesis, the yolk sac likely plays an important role in transport of nutrients to the fetus (4). RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) data from the yolk sac have identified numerous nutrient transporters including transporters for cholesterol, amino acids, glucose, nucleoside sugars, and metals (34). Much can go wrong during these early stages of placental development. As many as 10-40% of detectable conceptions end in an early pregnancy loss (120, 135), and less than 30% of all fertilization events are thought to result in a successful pregnancy (85). Fetal chromosomal abnormalities are thought to be responsible for approximately 50% of the cases of early pregnancy loss (1), but the etiology for the remaining cases remains insufficiently characterized. Multiomics approaches have recently been used to identify differentially expressed genes in villus and decidual tissue from individuals who experience recurrent miscarriage (134), but substantial gaps in knowledge remain about underlying mechanisms responsible for early pregnancy losses that are not due to chromosomal abnormalities.

At approximately 12 DPC, the EVT begins to invade the maternal spiral arteries (endoarterial trophoblast), decidual veins (endovenous trophoblast), uterine glands (endoglandular trophoblast), and lymphatic vessels (endolymphatic trophoblast) (64). The endoarterial trophoblasts remodel the spiral arteries, working to replace the endothelium with trophoblast cells that will dilate these vessels (increasing their radius from 0.25 to 2-3 mm) and leading to a reduction in the perivascular muscular layer (25, 51). This process transforms the maternal spiral arteries from high-resistance, low-capacity arteries into low-resistance, high-capacity arteries, which facilitates release of maternal blood from these arteries at pressures that will not damage the STB. Over the first trimester of pregnancy (T1), these arteries remain largely occluded by the endoarterial trophoblast (**Figure 1b**). At these early stages of placental maturation, the embryo is developing in a relatively low oxygen environment (~20 mm Hg), and the embryo relies on glycolysis, not oxidative phosphorylation, which is thought to protect the embryo against teratogenic effects caused from

## DPC: days postconception TE: trophectoderm CTB: cytotrophoblast STB: syncytiotrophoblast EVT: extravillous trophoblast

T1: first trimester



#### Figure 1

Histiotrophic versus hemotrophic nutrition. (*a*) By ~9 days postconception (DPC), the blastocyst has become fully embedded in decidual tissue and is surrounded by a primitive syncytium, which covers an underlying layer of cytotrophoblast (CTB) cells. Nutrients are obtained from uterine gland (UG) secretions, a process referred to as histiotrophic nutrition. In this lower oxygen environment, glycolysis serves as a predominant energy supply. Endometrial capillaries (ECs) are shown in cross section. Lacunae (L) begin to form in the syncytiotrophoblast (STB) and fill with blood from ruptured endometrial capillaries. (*b*) At ~10 weeks, villous tree structures are covered by the STB and underlying CTB. Fetal capillaries within the chorionic villi deliver nutrients to the fetus and return waste products to maternal circulation. The CTB forms CTB columns that anchor the chorionic villi to the decidual wall. The CTB gives rise to extravillous trophoblast (EVT), which remodels the maternal spiral arteries (SAs), increasing their diameter and decreasing the resistance of these vessels. At this stage of gestation, the EVT occludes the lumen of the SA, limiting maternal blood from being released into the intervillous space (IVS). Nutrients continue to be delivered to the STB via histiotrophic nutrition from the UG. (*c*) Near the end of the first trimester, the EVT is cleared from the SA, allowing maternal blood to be released into the IVS. From this time point onward, nutrients are delivered to the STB via maternal blood, a process referred to as hemotrophic nutrition. Increased perfusion of the placenta facilitates energy production via oxidative phosphorylation. As the pregnancy approaches term, there is less CTB present under the STB, which further facilitates nutrient, waste, and gas transport across the STB. Blood in the IVS is returned into maternal circulation via the decidual veins (DV).

oxygen free radicals (4, 70). Abnormalities in this early vascular remodeling process and premature opening of the spiral arteries are thought to be associated with pregnancy complications, including preeclampsia (PE), fetal growth restriction (FGR), and preterm birth (PTB) (101).

Many gaps in knowledge exist regarding nutrient uptake by the early embryo. This process is difficult to monitor in real time, and consequences of dysregulated implantation, invasion, and early perturbations in nutrient supply often do not become apparent until well into gestation. As an example, while FGR is known to be a leading cause of stillbirth, one-half of FGR cases are not detected prior to birth (45, 64).

PE: preeclampsia

FGR: fetal growth restriction

**IVS:** intervillous space

## Spiral Artery Remodeling and Hemotrophic Nutrition

Human placentas are hemochorial, which means that maternal blood comes into direct contact with the chorion. Near the end of T1 (at approximately 11 weeks of gestation), the endoarterial trophoblast that has occluded the maternal spiral arteries begins to clear, allowing large amounts of maternal blood to be ejected at low pressures to fill the intervillous space (IVS) of the placenta (34).

Maternal blood in the IVS bathes the placental chorionic villi, and at this stage of gestation, the fetus is now nourished by hemotrophic nutrition (**Figure 1***c*). Full transformation of the maternal spiral arteries is a gradual process, and these arteries only become fully patent at  $\sim$ 20 weeks of gestation (64). As these vessels open there is an approximately threefold increase in intraplacental oxygen tension (128).

Nutrients in maternal blood cross the maternal-facing microvillus membrane (MVM) of the STB. They are exported across the fetal-facing basal membrane (BM) of the STB and the underlying CTB cells, then travel through the underlying stroma before crossing the fetal endothelium into fetal circulation. The amount of maternal and fetal blood entering the placenta is substantial. At term, the IVS fills with 600–700 mL of maternal blood every minute (65). By late gestation, it has been estimated that approximately 40% of the fetal cardiac output is delivered to the placenta (24). Early problems with placental perfusion and fetoplacental circulation can impair subsequent organ function in the offspring, as shown for cardiac function (24) and by the seminal studies made by David Barker (10).

The transition from histiotrophic to hemotrophic nutrition is accompanied by systemic changes in energy metabolism, hormonal expression, and vasculature formation that are necessary for nutrient and waste exchange in support of fetal growth. The biological mechanisms underlying these changes are complicated, but advances in experimental and computational technologies have begun to provide insights into the molecular landscape of the human placenta through time and space. Comparative RNA-seq analysis of messenger RNA (mRNA) transcripts in the placental villi at 7-8 and 13-14 weeks of gestation showed increased synthesis of peptide hormones and activity of glycolytic pathways in T1. During the second trimester (T2), when the placenta is nourished via hemotrophic nutrition, placental energy metabolism pathways switch to favor mitochondrial respiration, leading to increases in oxidative stress and antioxidant defense and to altered expression of genes regulating glucose, protein, lipid, and ion transport (100). Expression of genes related to vascular formation and angiogenesis are also upregulated in late-stage placentas (100, 118), highlighting the continuous remodeling of placental vasculature that is needed to support the rapidly growing fetus. Moreover, the transition to hemotrophic nutrition may also affect the expression patterns of placental microRNAs (miRNAs). It has been shown that ~60% of miRNAs in the placental villi exhibit a significant differential expression between 6-10 and 11-23 weeks of gestation, some of which are thought to play important roles in mediating the effects of hypoxia, cellular proliferation, and maternal immune suppression (111). Besides RNA profiles, DNA methylation patterns also change after establishment of maternal blood flow in the IVS, which may affect expression of genes known to regulate vitamin A and D metabolism, oxidative stress, ion transport, and progesterone synthesis (100).

## Placental Senescence and Nutrient Transfer

The size of the placenta relative to the fetus changes substantially over gestation. Until approximately 15-16 weeks of gestation, the fetus is considerably smaller than the placenta, but by term, the fetus is 5–6 times larger than the placenta, and an  $\sim$ 600-g placenta must support the metabolic and nutritional demands of the  $\sim$ 3,500-g fetus. The placenta can sustain continued fetal growth until approximately 42 weeks of gestation. After 42 weeks of gestation (defined as prolonged pregnancy), fetal weight begins to decline, which some believe is indicative of the placenta no longer being able to support the nutritional and metabolic demands of the fetus. Prolonged pregnancy is more common among individuals who have obesity, those who have previously experienced a prolonged pregnancy, those who are carrying a male fetus, and those who have genetic risk factors (27). Labor is typically induced before 42 weeks of gestation to avoid the increased risks of adverse birth outcomes and perinatal mortality that have been associated with prolonged pregnancy **MVM:** microvillus membrane

BM: basal membrane

T2: second trimester

(89) and that may occur as a consequence of placental senescence. As the placenta ages, structural changes occur including reductions in the size and number of mitochondria, alterations in the Golgi apparatus and endoplasmic reticulum, reduced evidence of pinocytosis on the MVM, visible vacuoles and calcifications in the STB, thickening of the BM, and a reduction in the size of the fetal capillaries. Syncytial knots also increase with placental aging; these reflect aggregations of aged STB nuclei that are removed from metabolically active areas (27). Changes that occur due to placental senescence would be expected to alter placental hormone production, nutrient uptake, nutrient export to the fetus, and fetal oxygenation. Premature placental senescence has been observed in pathological pregnancies and has been postulated to be a contributor to pregnancy complications such as PE (91). Some of the apoptotic material from the placenta is released into maternal circulation and may be useful in diagnosing adverse processes before fetal growth faltering or adverse in utero consequences occur (91).

## The Syncytiotrophoblast Is a Unique Nutrient Barrier

Mechanisms of nutrient transport across the STB are frequently assumed to mirror those employed by the enterocyte without accounting for key differences between these cell types. The enterocyte has a finite life span of several days before it is sloughed into the gastrointestinal lumen. This provides these nutrient-trafficking cells a means of eliminating substances that are stored in the enterocyte but not exported into the circulation. The placenta must either restrict uptake of substances, move substances back into maternal circulation, or sequester these substances over gestation if they are not transported to the fetus. Enterocytes are exposed to a variable intraluminal pH—which ranges from approximately 6 in the duodenum to 7.4 in the terminal ileum to 5.7 in the cecum (44)—and to a microbiome composition that changes from the proximal to the distal intestine (122). In contrast, the placenta is bathed in maternal and fetal blood, which has a narrow pH range of 7.35–7.45, and the presence of a low biomass placental microbiome remains controversial (147). The enterocyte is exposed to only one hormonal environment while the placenta is exposed to hormonal signals that are independently produced by the pregnant individual and the fetus and that come into close proximity to the MVM or BM. This complexity is further increased in multiple gestations where independent placentas are formed by dizygotic embryos that may be of different sexes, and fetally derived hormone concentrations may vary in relation to variable fetal nutrient exposures (39, 105). The placenta has also been found to express unique proteins that replace proteins serving the same role in other tissues, such as the placental ferroxidase zyklopen (32). As a syncytium, the STB lacks the paracellular junctions that are found between adjacent enterocytes. This would necessitate that all nutrient transport across the STB must occur via transcellular processes. However, data indicate that mechanical forces or degeneration of the STB as gestation progresses may result in gaps in the STB that provide routes for paracellular maternofetal transfer (48). Small transtrophoblastic channels have also been reported in the STB and are purported to allow molecules with diameters of 20 nm to pass from the basal toward the apical surface of the STB (75). These channels may also allow for fetomaternal fluid shifts to maintain fetal osmoregulation and water balance (48). The unique attributes of the STB highlight the need to characterize nutrient trafficking in placental tissue.

#### **Factors That Influence Placental Nutrient Transport**

Movement of nutrients and gases across the placenta into fetal circulation is impacted by the chemical composition of the substance being transported, the chemical gradient between the maternal and fetal compartments, the rate of maternal and fetal blood flow on either side of the placenta, the surface area and thickness of the placenta (distance between the outer surface of the STB and the fetal capillary endothelium), the nutritional and metabolic demands of the placenta itself, and the presence (number, density, distribution, and activity) of the required receptors, channels, pores, or proteins on placental and endothelial membranes. The umbilical cord insertion site to the placenta may also impact nutrient transfer to the fetus. The umbilical cord insertion site can be located in the center of the placenta (central insertion), slightly off center (eccentric insertion), on the periphery of the placental disk (marginal insertion), or even on the placental membranes themselves (velamentous insertion). Marginal cord insertion has been postulated to promote more heterogeneous transport throughout the villous network (71) while reduced transport efficiency has been observed in placentas with noncentral cord insertion (142).

Small hydrophobic compounds and gasses move across the placenta down their diffusion gradients by simple transcellular lipophilic diffusion. Simple diffusion across the placenta is impacted by the placental surface area and thickness and by the blood flow on either side of the membrane. Structural changes that occur as the placenta ages may facilitate diffusion, because as the placenta ages the surface area and number of placental villi increase, the placenta becomes more vascular, and the STB becomes thinner with decreased numbers of persistent CTB cells under the STB (48). In addition to essential nutrients and waste products (such as urea and gases), simple diffusion also allows harmful lipophilic compounds (alcohol, nicotine, gases such as carbon monoxide, and toxins) to cross the STB from maternal into fetal circulation, and placental concentrations of environmental wastes (such as heavy metals) increase with increasing maternal age, presumably due to larger body burden of these contaminants that are released from body stores such as bone during pregnancy (38).

While some fat-soluble nutrients and gases may diffuse across placental membranes, many nutrients require specialized energy-dependent transporters to move across the trophoblast, as recently reviewed (74). The trophoblast expresses two key families of membrane transport proteins: the solute carriers (SLCs) and the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter family. The trophoblast ABC transporters assist with the transport of multiple substrates including steroid hormones, lipids, cholesterol, and inflammatory factors. Trophoblast transport of amino acids, glucose, organic cations and anions, and monoamines is facilitated by SLC transporters. Nutrient transfer across the placenta is also dependent on the placenta's need to utilize this nutrient in support of its own nutritional demands and on the ability of the fetus to signal its nutritional demands to the placenta. Many other factors impact the interpretation of placental nutrient transfer data including variable fetal sizes and numbers (in the case of multiple births), differential gene expression profiles that may occur as a function of stage of gestation, underlying maternal conditions such as obesity, sex of the fetus, and the source of placental sampling on the placental disk. Several processes utilized to transport nutrients to the fetus are highlighted below in the discussion of carbohydrate (glucose), fat (fatty acids), protein (amino acids), and mineral (iron) transport across the placenta. These nutrients provide examples of the range of transport mechanisms utilized; the complexities in balancing maternal, fetal, and placental demands; and the similar challenges that exist when attempting to characterize these pathways in placental tissue. The placenta also needs to sense and respond to alterations in the tempo of fetal nutritional demand, which varies markedly among nutrients, as depicted in Figure 2.

## MECHANISMS OF PLACENTAL NUTRIENT UPTAKE

## Iron Transport—Receptor-Mediated Endocytosis

Maternal iron stores and physiological increases in iron absorption are often not sufficient to supply the nearly 1,000 mg of iron that is needed to support a typical singleton pregnancy (93), and  $\sim$ 50% of pregnant individuals worldwide have iron deficiency anemia (IDA) (14). Maternal IDA

IDA: iron deficiency anemia



#### Figure 2

Variable tempo of fetal nutrient accretion. Cross-sectional data on the chemical composition of the human fetus were compiled from early studies carried out by Widdowson & Spray (138). Data were obtained from 13 fetuses (ranging in weight from 225 to 4,375 g). Of these, 6 were stillborn (all weighing more than 3,000 g) and 2 were twins. Causes of death were documented (138) and included demise due to maternal and birth complications (eclampsia, hemorrhage, placenta previa, breech presentation, etc.), habitual or inevitable abortion, or surgical induction. On the basis of this analysis, net accretion of iron, protein, and fat are plotted as a function of fetal weight. Over the last trimester of pregnancy, the average weight of a fetus more than triples from 1.1 kg at 28 weeks to 3.5 kg at term. The average iron content of the fetus nearly triples over this period from ~90 to ~300 mg. Fetal fat accretion shows a nearly exponential increase during the last trimester of pregnancy. In contrast, gains in protein accretion are modest during the final weeks of pregnancy. Mechanisms of placental transport must be differentially regulated to accommodate these highly variable tempos of nutrient accretion. Data from Reference 138.

has been associated with abnormalities in placental physiology including placental hypertrophy (9), placental abruption, and PTB (13). Suboptimal fetal iron exposures are increasingly linked to long-term, irreversible deficits in neurobehavioral outcomes (11).

Iron is a highly reactive metal that is commonly present in the body as either ferric ( $Fe^{3+}$ ) or ferrous (Fe<sup>2+</sup>) iron. Iron-trafficking proteins have specific affinities for these oxidation states, making ferroxidases and ferrireductases integral to placental cellular iron transport processes. Nearly all nonheme iron in maternal circulation is transported bound to a specific carrier protein, transferrin (Tf) (encoded by the gene TF). Each transferrin molecule can bind two atoms of Fe<sup>3+</sup>, which when fully loaded is referred to as diferric transferrin. The placenta richly expresses transferrin receptor 1 (TfR1) (encoded by the gene TFRC) to capture diferric transferrin from maternal circulation via receptor-mediated endocytosis. The Tf-TfR1 complex is endocytosed in a unidirectional fashion into clathrin-coated pits on the MVM. The resulting endosomes are acidified by proton pumps, releasing the ferric iron from the Tf-TfR1 complex. The ferric iron is reduced by an endosomal ferrireductase (STEAP3 or STEAP4) and exported as ferrous iron into the STB cytosol by divalent metal transporter 1 (DMT1). The lysosome containing the Tf-TfR1 complex is recycled back to the MVM membrane, and the Tf is released back into maternal circulation to bind more iron. Ferrous iron delivered into the cytosol can be transported by an iron chaperone, poly(rC)binding protein 2 (PCBP2), and iron can be utilized in support of placental mitochondrial energy demands and other cellular functions or stored as ferritin. If not utilized or stored in the STB, iron is exported across the BM by the only nonheme Fe export protein in the body, ferroportin (FPN), and reoxidized to ferric iron by a ferroxidase (zyklopen, hephaestin, or ceruloplasmin) (46, 93, 148) (Figure 3a).

Tf: transferrin

TfR1: transferrin receptor 1



#### Figure 3

Mechanisms of placental nutrient trafficking. Each of four nutrients (iron, fatty acids, amino acids, and glucose) are labeled at the top; the functions of each are shown in a list below. (a) Iron is transported across the placenta via receptor-mediated endocytosis. Transferrin (Tf) binds iron in maternal circulation to produce diferric transferrin. This binds to transferrin receptor 1 (TfR1) on the microvillus membrane (MVM) and is internalized into endosomes that are acidified by proton pumps; the iron is then released from TfR1 and is reduced to ferrous iron by a ferrireductase (STEAP) to be pumped out of the endosome into the cytosol by divalent metal transporter 1 (DMT1). Iron in the syncytiotrophoblast (STB) can be stored as ferritin, used for cellular purposes, or exported by ferroportin across the basal membrane (BM) and oxidized by a ferroxidase (zyklopen) to be exported into fetal circulation. (b) Fatty acids are transferred across the placenta by diffusion and active transport. A small amount of nonesterified fatty acids (NEFAs) in maternal circulation can diffuse across the MVM. Most fatty acids are presented to the STB as lipoproteins that are broken down by lipoprotein lipase (LPL) to produce NEFAs. The resulting NEFAs are transported across the MVM using either a plasma membrane fatty acid binding protein (FABP-pm), a fatty acid translocase (FAT/CD36), or a fatty acid transfer protein (FATP). In the cytosol, the NEFAs bind to liver- or heart-type FABPs (L-FABP or H-FABP) and can be utilized by the STB or transported across the BM using FAT/CD36 or FATP. (c) Amino acids are transported across the MVM using accumulative transporters (such as the sodium-coupled neutral amino acid transporters SNAT1, SNAT2, and SNAT4) or exchangers (such as the L-type amino acid transporters LAT1 and LAT2). On the BM, amino acids are transported using exchangers or can be transferred across the BM in either direction down the concentration gradient using facilitated transporters. (d) Glucose is transported across the MVM down the concentration gradient using facilitated diffusion. A series of glucose transporters (GLUTs) are present on the MVM and move glucose into the cytosol by facilitated diffusion down the concentration gradient. Once in the cytosol, glucose can be used for cellular purposes, stored as glycogen, or exported across the BM by GLUTs to be delivered into fetal circulation.

**PIDI:** placental iron deficiency index

The majority of research on placental iron trafficking has focused on placental utilization of nonheme iron, but the placenta also richly expresses other transport proteins involved in heme iron utilization including feline leukemia virus subgroup C receptor 1 (FLVCR1), heme-responsive gene 1 (HRG1), and lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 (LRP1) (15, 62, 148). These proteins may provide the placenta with the capacity to scavenge heme catabolic products that are derived from extravascular red blood cell catabolism. Studies using stable isotopically labeled heme and nonheme iron found a preferential maternal absorption of heme iron, and a significantly greater percentage of maternally absorbed heme iron was transferred to the fetus (144).

The placenta's ability to regulate iron-trafficking proteins in relation to maternal and neonatal iron status and iron regulatory hormones has received much attention. Existing data support an increase in the protein expression of TfR1 on the MVM as maternal Fe stores are depleted, presumably to help the placenta scavenge nonheme iron (15, 106, 145). Fewer data are available on placental FPN protein expression, and the discrepant findings that exist may be driven by methodological differences in the antibody used or the variable iron status of the study population (15, 28, 106, 108). Protein and mRNA expression of the placental ferroxidase zyklopen were recently found to be upregulated in term placenta tissue obtained from individuals with IDA (117). Sangkhae et al. (106) developed a placental iron deficiency index (PIDI), which is based on the ratio of the protein expression of the BM nonheme iron exporter, FPN, to the protein expression of the MVM nonheme importer, TfR1. Significantly lower PIDI ratios have been observed among pregnant individuals with depleted iron stores (serum ferritin) (106) and in placental tissue obtained from individuals with prenatal alcohol-related iron deficiency (28). Animal data have highlighted the role of the placental intracellular iron-regulatory protein and iron-response element system in responding to the cellular labile iron pool to stabilize the mRNA of TFRC and repress the translation of FPN. This coordinated regulatory process conserves placental iron in support of placental iron demands (106) but may impair iron transfer to the fetus if placental iron deficits are prolonged.

The fetus has an intact erythropoietin-erythroferrone-hepcidin axis and begins to produce iron regulatory hormones early in gestation (8, 39). Possible associations between neonatal Fe status and regulatory hormones at birth and placental expression of Fe-trafficking proteins in term placental tissue have been explored for a number of heme and nonheme iron-trafficking proteins (15, 127). When evaluating determinants of placental nutrient trafficking, it has been difficult to isolate relative effects that are controlled by the mother, the placenta, or the fetus. A multiple birth model has provided opportunities to examine relative differences in iron partitioning between multiple fetal-placental units by evaluating umbilical cord iron biomarkers at birth. With this approach, highly variable concentrations of the major nonheme iron regulatory hormone (hepcidin) were found between siblings, indicating that the fetus modifies its hormonal milieu in response to the iron it receives (105). However, fetally derived hepcidin does not appear to influence the expression of the BM iron export protein FPN or other nonheme iron-trafficking proteins (15).

#### Placental Fatty Acid Transport—Diffusion and Active Transport

Maternal lipid sources are needed for fetoplacental development from the earliest stages of placental trophoblast invasion and angiogenesis to the last 10 weeks of pregnancy when approximately 90% of the total fat content of the fetus is accumulated (18, 137). Among mammals, human newborns have the highest percentage of body fat at birth (76). Maternal essential fatty acids (FAs) and long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LC-PUFAs) supply the lipid needed for fetal development. A small amount of nonesterified fatty acids (NEFAs) is found in maternal circulation ( $\sim 2-3\%$  of circulating FAs), and these can move from maternal circulation into fetal circulation across the STB by diffusion (59). Maternal lipoproteins (as esterified FAs in triglycerides and phospholipids) are actively transported across the STB after being hydrolyzed into NEFAs by lipases. Lipoprotein lipase on the MVM mainly hydrolyzes triglycerides, while endothelial lipase mainly hydrolyzes phospholipids (77, 78). The free fatty acids (FFAs) released are transported across the MVM into the cytoplasm. FAs that are not used to support key placental metabolic functions are transported through the cytosol and cross the BM and fetal endothelium to enter fetal circulation. Placental transfer of FAs uses a family of transport proteins that include the fatty acid translocase (FAT/CD36), fatty acid transporter proteins 1-6 (FATP1-6), and placentaspecific plasma membrane fatty acid binding protein (FABP-pm), as recently reviewed (42). These lipid handling transporters are not uniformly distributed in the placenta. The maternal MVM of the STB contains FABP-pm as well as FATPs and FAT/CD36. There is some selectivity of the MVM transporters, and FABP-pm binds mainly arachidonic acid and docosahexaenoic acid and some linoleic and oleic acid. In contrast, FATP does not exhibit preferences for FA uptake, and FAT/CD36 interacts with multiple FAs and other ligands (18). Once FFAs enter the cytosol, they are trafficked by two main FABPs, heart-type FABP (H-FABP) and liver-type FABP (L-FABP). Intracellular FAs can be utilized for intracellular biological purposes, oxidized by the placental mitochondria to produce energy, or re-esterified by the endoplasmic reticulum and stored as lipid droplets (18). If not retained or utilized by the placenta, FFAs are transported across the BM using FATPs and FAT/CD36. These exported FFAs must then cross the stroma before entering the fetal endothelium (Figure 3b).

The essential fatty acids, alpha-linolenic acid (C18:3 n-3) (ALA) and linoleic acid (C18:2 n-6) (LA), are particularly important for fetal neuronal and brain development. Both ALA and LA serve as precursors for the LC-PUFAs arachidonic acid (C20:4 n-6) (AA), eicosapentaenoic acid (C20:5 n-3) (EPA), and docosahexaenoic acid (C22:6 n-3) (DHA). A higher relative amount of DHA and EPA and lower relative proportions of ALA and LA are found in fetal compared with maternal plasma. This ability to preferentially accumulate these FAs is referred to as biomagnification, and it is thought to occur due to enhanced placental transfer of DHA and AA to the fetal circulation (54).

Pregnant individuals with obesity have altered placental expression of many of the FA transport proteins and increased transfer of maternal FFA to the fetus (60). Studies of placental tissue from individuals with obesity have found that lipid storage and esterification are increased, mitochondrial FA oxidation is decreased, and peroxisomal FA oxidation is upregulated to compensate for deficits in mitochondrial function, and together these pathways may work to limit transfer of excess fat to the fetus (26). Several in vivo kinetic studies of maternofetal FFA transport (using stable isotopically labeled FAs) have been undertaken, but conflicting findings on the impact of maternal obesity on FA transport to the fetus have been reported (52, 53). Excess fetal adiposity is often found in both undernourished and overnourished mothers, a process that has been referred to as nutrient-mediated teratogenesis. (141) The role of the placenta in this process requires further attention.

## Amino Acid Transport—Accumulative Transporters/Exchangers/Facilitated Transport

Amino acids in the placenta and developing fetus are utilized for biosynthesis of numerous molecules (including nucleotides), for protein synthesis, for carbon accretion, and as an important oxidative fuel substrate. Fetal growth is dependent on maternal supply of amino acids and nutritional or hormonal alterations. The profile and activity of amino acid transporters can contribute to fetal overgrowth or fetal growth restriction. On average, 10–60 g of amino acids are transferred to the fetus each day for every 1 kg of fetal weight (87). While fetal accretion of most nutrients peaks in late gestation, fetal protein accretion slows as fat becomes the dominant contributor to

#### T3: third trimester

weight gain (113) (Figure 2). More than 20 different amino acid transporters supply the placenta and fetus with amino acids (49). Existing amino acid transporters can be classified in multiple ways, including if they are sodium dependent or sodium independent, on the basis of substrate specificity (whether they prefer cationic, zwitterionic, or anionic substrates), and on sequence homology (family). Amino acid transporters are also classified into functional groups on the basis of whether they are accumulative, exchangers, or facilitated transporters. Accumulative transporters mediate syncytiotrophoblast uptake of specific amino acids from maternal or fetal blood. Exchangers mediate efflux of amino acids from the STB in exchange for essential amino acids that are brought into the STB cytosol from maternal or fetal circulation. Exchangers lead to a change in the overall amino acid composition of the cytosol but no change in the overall quantity of amino acids. Facilitated transporters export amino acids down their concentration gradient. The type and location of amino acid transport systems in human placental tissue varies (12, 36), but much of the research to date has focused on system A and system L transporters. System A transporters transport neutral amino acids and are found on both the MVM and BM of the human placenta. The system A transporters are sodium-coupled neutral amino acid transporters (SNATs) that have three isoforms (SNAT1, SNAT2, and SNAT4), all of which are found in the human placenta. System A amino acid transporters mediate the placental uptake of nonessential, neutral amino acids against their concentration gradient, and sodium is cotransported into the cell. Transport of neutral amino acids across the MVM by system A transporters establishes a transmembrane gradient that is utilized to drive the uptake of large essential amino acids via the system L transporters. The system L transporters, L-type amino acid transporters 1 and 2 (LAT1 and LAT2), are sodium-independent exchangers that are heterodimers of a light chain that is covalently linked to a heavy chain. System L transporters exchange nonessential for essential amino acids, and these are transported against their concentration gradient (Figure 3c).

Placental amino acid transport and placental metabolism of amino acids change over the course of gestation. Early in gestation, intact peptides are transferred across the yolk sac to support the amino acid requirements of the conceptus (12). By 12–17 weeks of gestation, the concentration of amino acids in fetal circulation is greater than that measured in maternal circulation, indicative of active transport (30, 69). For some amino acids, the placenta may compete with the fetus, and only when placental protein catabolism exceeds protein synthesis are these amino acids released across the BM to the fetus. Amino acids that are oxidized within the placenta are interconverted into other amino acids, changing the cytosolic amino acid composition, which affects cellular gradients that drive other amino acid transport processes (102). Maternal and fetal metabolism will also alter the total and relative amounts of amino acids being delivered to the placenta in arterial blood (36). Much of what is known about human placental amino acid metabolism has been obtained using in vitro models, which cannot adequately simulate the concentrations and dynamic changes that occur for all amino acids on either side of the MVM or BM; nor do these systems provide data on interorgan cycling between the placenta and fetal liver.

Transplacental flux of amino acids has been evaluated in vivo, in pregnant individuals, using stable isotopically labeled essential and nonessential amino acids. Two main approaches have been used in these studies. The first approach involves administering tracers to women during T2 or the third trimester (T3) to evaluate placental transfer to the fetus using cordocentesis. Individuals in these studies have had medical conditions (thrombocytopenia, seroconversion toxoplasmosis, chicken pox, or late booking for prenatal diagnosis) that necessitated in utero fetal blood sampling. The second approach involves administering amino acid tracers at term shortly before scheduled C-sections and obtaining samples of umbilical blood at birth to evaluate placental transfer.

Examples of studies evaluating fetal uptake of maternally administered amino acids during T2 or T3 include those that infused labeled leucine and glycine (29); labeled leucine, phenylalanine,

glycine, and proline (95); or primed constant infusions of two different leucine tracers with staggered start times, each followed by a constant leucine infusion (94). In all of these studies, umbilical blood was obtained postmaternal dosing by cordocentesis. The fetal-to-maternal (F/M) enrichment of labeled amino acids was evaluated to measure amino acid transfer. These approaches determined that leucine and phenylalanine transfer to the fetus are significantly greater than glycine or proline transfer (29, 95), a finding that has been attributed to the high-affinity exchange transporters used for leucine and phenylalanine. A significantly lower F/M enrichment of leucine and phenylalanine was observed in individuals carrying intrauterine growth retardation (IUGR) fetuses indicative of impaired transplacental flux (95).

Rapid transplacental flux of nine essential amino acids from maternal to fetal circulation was evaluated at term in individuals scheduled to deliver by C-section. Umbilical blood flow was measured prior to delivery by Doppler ultrasound. Within 10 min of delivery, individuals received one of two infusions that contained either leucine, isoleucine, phenylalanine, lysine, and tryptophan (n = 5) or valine, methionine, threonine, histidine, and lysine (n = 7). At delivery, the umbilical cord was clamped, and the umbilical arterial and venous F/M enrichment ratios were measured and normalized to the leucine ratio in each study. Four of the amino acids were found to be rapidly transported to the fetus (leucine, isoleucine, methionine, and phenylalanine), with the slowest transfer being evident for lysine. The study also observed a significant linear relationship between the F/M ratio and umbilical blood flow (measured prior to delivery) (50).

The net availability of amino acids for fetal use depends on the concentrations of individual amino acids in maternal and fetal circulation, on the trophoblast permeability, on the placenta's capacity to produce amino acids, on its need to utilize these amino acids for its own metabolic demands, and on the abundance of the necessary transporters on the MVM and BM. Amino acids that are exported across the BM must cross the stroma and fetal endothelium before entering fetal circulation. This process is difficult to study in vivo, but computational modeling data from in vitro human placental perfusions suggest that diffusion through the stroma and into the fetal capillaries is not a rate-limiting step (82). Instead, transfer of amino acids across the BM often appears to be a rate-limiting step in fetal amino acid supply (35). Studies to date have affirmed that the placenta plays an active role in provision of amino acids to the fetus. To move this field forward and address the intricacies of this system, computational modeling approaches are currently being applied to identify rate-limiting steps and factors that impact amino acid partitioning among the mother, placenta, and fetus and to address possible interorgan cycling between the placenta and fetal liver (36).

#### **Glucose Transport Across the Placenta—Facilitated Diffusion**

Glucose serves as the primary energy source for the fetus. To help promote fetal glucose availability, pregnant individuals exhibit a decreased insulin sensitivity as pregnancy progresses, a finding that is thought to be mediated, in part, by the placenta (110). Glucose taken up by the placenta can be oxidized by the placenta, stored as glycogen, used to synthesize NEFAs, or transported to the fetus. Glycogen is stored in placental tissue either as a reserve supply of glucose for the fetus or to serve as a source of fuel for the placenta. Glycogen stores in the placenta decrease over the course of gestation (3, 126). Glucose crosses the placenta using facilitated diffusion mediated by a variety of glucose transporter (GLUT) proteins that are differentially expressed throughout the placenta and fetal endothelium. Multiple GLUT isoforms have been identified in placental tissue (GLUT1, 3, 4, 8, 9, and 12), and these vary by location and stage of gestation (115). Research has focused on GLUTs in the MVM (GLUT1, GLUT9, and GLUT3) and BM (GLUT1 and GLUT4) and on the CTB (GLUT1 and GLUT3) and fetal endothelium (GLUT1, GLUT3, and GLUT4), as recently reviewed (109). GLUT1 is found on both the MVM and BM, but given that the surface area of the MVM is approximately fourfold greater than the surface area of the **IUGR:** intrauterine growth retardation

**GDM:** gestational diabetes mellitus

BM (61), the reduced GLUT1 protein density on the BM is thought to be the rate-limiting step in glucose transfer to the fetus (61, 109) (**Figure 3***d*). GLUT expression changes quantitatively over pregnancy, as shown for GLUT3, which appears to be important in early pregnancy (20).

In vivo studies of placental glucose transport were completed in healthy individuals undergoing elective C-section deliveries using a unique four-vessel sampling method. This methodology measures the net amount of glucose delivered to the uteroplacental unit (by measuring glucose concentrations in the maternal radial artery and vein) and the net amount of glucose transferred to the fetal circulation (by measuring glucose concentrations in the umbilical artery and vein). Doppler ultrasound measures of uterine and umbilical blood flow are also obtained. Results obtained using this approach in a group of 70 pregnant individuals were recently summarized (58). Modeling of these data concluded that (a) the mass of glucose transferred to the fetus is linearly associated with the mass of glucose taken up by the uteroplacental unit; (b) uteroplacental utilization of glucose is highly variable (ranging from a net negative to a positive glucose balance); (c) the placenta utilizes glucose in support of its own demands, which influences the mass of glucose delivered to the fetus; and (d) supply of glucose to the fetus may be supplemented by uteroplacental glucose from placental glycogen stores (58).

Because glucose transport occurs via facilitated diffusion, individuals who develop gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) or those that enter pregnancy with poorly controlled diabetes mellitus are at risk of excessive placental glucose transfer, resulting in fetal overgrowth (macrosomia) and excess adiposity (86). Excess placental glycogen has been observed in those with GDM. This adaptation is thought to protect the fetus from hyperglycemia (126). Pregnant individuals with obesity have been noted to have alterations in placental glucose transport (109), and increased BM GLUT1 expression has been observed in individuals with obesity who delivered newborns with macrosomia (63). It is difficult to disentangle possible effects that may be driven by obesity from those caused by GDM in individuals who have both GDM and obesity. Altered placental glucose transport has also been noted in individuals carrying monochorionic twins that exhibited hypoperfusion of the placenta, in pregnancies that were established using assisted reproductive technologies, and in pregnant individuals that develop preeclampsia or cholestasis (109). Alterations in placental glucose utilization caused by GDM appear to be impacted more by placental function than by structure, as concluded by a study of transcriptomic alterations in the GDM placenta at the single-cell level that found a similar cell type profile in healthy women and women with GDM (143).

## PLACENTAL FUNCTION IN HEALTH AND DISEASE

## Fetal Sex as a Modulating Factor of Placental Health

Placental efficiency, a common metric derived using the ratio of fetal or birth weight to placental weight, is often found to be greater in male fetuses (47). The increased placental efficiency in a male fetus may come at a cost, as a smaller placenta has less reserve capacity and is more reliant on a constant maternal nutrient supply. This makes the male fetus more susceptible to nutritional insults in utero and may explain the altered sex ratio that has been observed in newborns from individuals that experience nutrient deprivation during pregnancy or in high-risk pregnancies such as multiple births (66). Metrics of placental efficiency have also been linked to long-term developmental outcomes. A recent study in more than 71,000 pregnant individuals found that risk of neurodevelopmental delay in 3-year-old offspring was significantly higher among toddlers whose placental efficiency values were under the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile. Of note, this association was only significant among boys (90).

Sexual dimorphism is also evident in placental glucose metabolism. Several studies have noted an elevated prevalence and increased severity of GDM among women carrying males (68). This increased risk may be a consequence of fetomaternal signaling, with the male fetoplacental unit modifying maternal glucose and insulin metabolism during pregnancy (97, 103). Analyses of placental miRNA in women with diabetes revealed six miRNAs to statistically differ between women with and without diabetes carrying male fetuses, but no differences were observed among women carrying female fetuses (133). Similarly, maternal glycemia was also found to impair mitochondrial biogenesis only in placentas of male fetuses (72). In contrast, other studies have found a significant positive correlation between maternal glucose concentrations and placental weight only in female infants (104), as well as greater effects of maternal glycemia on neonatal subcutaneous and intraabdominal adiposity among female infants (123).

Sexual dimorphism in the placental transcriptome has been explored at varying stages of gestation and in term placentas, as recently reviewed (19). These findings identified extensive sex differences in placental metabolic functions and immune responses that involved changes in a variety of biological pathways related to epigenomic modification, hormonal regulation, and cellular signaling processes (19). Fetal sex-related differences in placental polyamine metabolism have also been studied in detail. Polyamines, such as spermidine and spermine, play diverse roles in cells and have been found to promote longevity in model organisms (43) and human cell lines (149). The gene that controls synthesis of spermine in humans (i.e., SMS) is encoded on the X chromosome. In mammals, dosage of X-linked genes is balanced between XY males and XX females by X-chromosome inactivation (XCI), whereby genes from only one copy of the X chromosomes are transcribed in females. However, some X-linked genes, including SMS, can escape XCI, resulting in increased gene expression in females relative to males (125). The placental expression of SMS and the maternal serum level of spermine metabolites were decreased in women carrying male fetuses relative to those carrying female fetuses (57). One spermine metabolite, diacetylspermine, detected in maternal serum was further associated with an increased risk of PE and a reduced risk of FGR (57). Functional assays of trophoblasts revealed that placentas of male fetuses were more susceptible to polyamine depletion, which was associated with impaired mitochondrial energy metabolism, and decreased histone acetylation and progesterone synthesis (6). Moreover, genes that escape from XCI may be essential for placental function, since monosomy X has been recently shown to impair development and maturation of the STB and EVT and reduce placental hormone production in a trophoblast model derived from human-induced pluripotent stem cells carrying a single copy of the X chromosome (2). Interestingly, variable expression of the paternal allele, maternal allele, or both alleles of an X-linked gene was noted across different locations in term placentas (98) and among single nuclei of isolated trophoblasts (6). How mosaic expression of X-linked genes affects trophoblast phenotypes and contributes to sexual dimorphism in placental function and pregnancy complications are questions that merit further study.

## **Placental Gene Pathways and Pregnancy Complications**

Advances in high-throughput profiling approaches have provided opportunities to identify placental molecular features with an increasingly large sample size. Notably, many disease-associated placental molecular features converge upon important biological pathways that regulate energy and nutrient metabolism and placental development. Deyssenroth et al. (41) examined mRNA profiles in 200 term placental samples and characterized the transcriptome using 17 placental coexpression modules. Perturbation in five modules (implicated in mitochondrial respiration, protein transport, and hormone signaling, among others) showed associations with fetal birth weight and FGR (41). More recently, Gong et al. (56) sequenced both total and small RNA libraries generated from 302 term placentas. By comparing transcriptomic data with other human tissues, the authors highlighted placentally enriched transcripts, ranging from mRNAs of placental hormones to noncoding RNAs, such as miRNAs, small noncoding RNAs, circular RNAs, and piwi-interacting RNAs, whose functions in the placenta have not been elucidated (56). Coexpression network analysis of mRNA and miRNA transcripts prioritized modules enriched for biological pathways related to angiogenesis and mitochondrial respiration in the term placenta. These mRNA-miRNA modules were further found to be differentially expressed in placentas complicated by FGR and/or PE as compared with placentas from uncomplicated pregnancies (56).

Data from the term placenta have inherent limitations, as observations evident at term do not reveal causality, nor do they offer diagnostic or prognostic abilities to predict pregnancy complications. Therefore, searching for minimally invasive biomarkers of the placenta in early gestational stages remains an important task. The human placenta has been shown to mediate maternal adaptations to pregnancy by secreting multiple hormones, cytokines, and neuropeptides that target key maternal metabolic organs such as the pancreas, liver, skeletal muscle, adipose tissue, and brain (107). Extracellular vesicles (EVs), such as exosomes and microvesicles, are a heterogenous class of lipid-bound particles released by cells into the extracellular environment (17). EVs have been found to mediate intracellular communications in the placenta and between the mother and the fetus. Placenta-derived exosomal miRNAs were found to modulate invasiveness and proliferation of trophoblasts as well as maternal immune responses to the placenta (140). Altered lipid profiles in EVs obtained from trophoblasts of women diagnosed with PE were noted to induce proinflammatory phenotypes in placental macrophages (80). Moreover, signaling molecules delivered by EVs from endometrial stromal cells were shown to regulate endometrial decidualization, placental angiogenesis, and EVT differentiation (84). Placentally derived EVs and EV-encapsulated cargo materials (e.g., nucleotides, proteins, and lipids) as well as other substances from the placenta are detectable in maternal blood and amniotic fluid, which have been investigated in relation to pregnancy complications (17). As our understanding of the placenta accrues, more research is needed to evaluate the sensitivity and specificity of these minimally invasive biomarkers for monitoring placental function during pregnancy and the generalizability of the related findings for disease diagnosis and risk prediction in different populations.

Genetic association is another powerful tool that allows inference of causal relationships between placental phenotypes and pregnancy complications by leveraging existing genetic polymorphisms in human populations (129). Findings from genetic association studies can be further strengthened by integrating placental transcriptome data to pinpoint the potential changes in placental gene expression that predispose an individual to diseases later in life. In studies using multiomics approaches, placental gene expression has been shown to mediate the genetic risks for fetal birth outcomes (121), cardiometabolic traits (16), and autoimmune and neuropsychiatric disorders (16, 130, 131). Moreover, the placenta is in direct contact with maternal nutrients and regulatory signals. Interestingly, of all variable DNA methylation sites in the placental genetics and maternal prenatal environmental factors, such as cardiometabolic traits, than by genetic and environmental factors (e.g., maternal nutrition) on fetal genetic influence on placental phenotypes and pregnancy complications are still lacking.

#### **Placental Tissue Heterogeneity**

Placental function is orchestrated by many cell types at the maternofetal interface. Over the past five years, studies using single-cell technologies such as single-cell RNA-seq (scRNA-seq) have made substantial contributions to the identification of placental cell types, their molecular features and differentiation trajectories, and cell–cell communication networks in the human placenta

(81, 96, 119, 124, 132, 134). scRNA-seq can be performed following cell cytometry to select specific cellular subtypes on the basis of surface antigens or can be applied to all cells to evaluate cellular heterogenicity within a bulk tissue sample. This technology has been utilized to elucidate molecular features underlying the development of trophectoderm cells (79) and trophoblast populations (139) during implantation. The presence of three major trophoblast populations (CTB, EVT, and STB) was confirmed in scRNA-seq studies (81, 96, 119, 124, 132, 134). The EVT pathway is associated with upregulation of genes that affect cellular adhesion or invasion and immunomodulation while the multinucleated STB population is associated with upregulation of genes related to expression of placental hormones and glycoproteins (139). There is also extensive heterogeneity within each trophoblast subpopulation (81, 124, 132, 134). By comparing scRNAseq profiles of CTB and EVT subpopulations isolated from T1 and T2 placentas (obtained from 8 to 24 weeks of gestation), a continuous differentiation trajectory of CTB into EVT was inferred along with the underlying signaling pathways (81). Moreover, trophoblast subpopulations were found to express a diverse array of polypeptide hormones (n = 60 in STB) (81), as well as nutritional SLC family proteins (in both STB and EVT) (119), that are essential to hormonal regulation and nutrient transport in the placenta.

It should be noted that in addition to trophoblasts, the human placenta also contains numerous other cell types. Findings from scRNA-seq studies (119, 124, 132) have verified the presence of fibroblasts, erythroblasts, Hofbauer cells (fetal placental macrophages), stromal cells, smooth muscle cells, decidual cells, epithelial cells, endothelial cells, perivascular cells, and various leukocytes (monocytes, natural killer cells, and T cells) in the placental villi and/or decidual tissue. The maternal and fetal origin of placental cells was further queried using DNA polymorphisms in the corresponding RNA sequences (124, 132, 134). A fundamental question that was addressed was how maternal and fetal cells communicate with each other to ensure successful placentation and pregnancy. To answer this question, several studies systematically investigated receptor–ligand interactions across placental cell types (96, 119, 132, 134). The findings indicated that maternal decidual cells relied on specific G-protein-coupled receptors to augment signal transduction with fetal trophoblasts (96), and maternal natural killer cells exhibited immunomodulatory properties that would suppress maternal immune responses to the fetal trophoblast invasion into endometrial tissue (132).

The diversity of cell types observed in these scRNA-seq studies highlights the possible impact of extensive tissue heterogenicity on interpretation of results observed in studies using bulk tissue samples obtained at variable locations throughout the placenta (67, 112). The total proportion of trophoblasts has been found to vary from 15% to 60% in scRNA-seq data of term placental samples even when collected using a standardized method from different individuals (124). Technologically, availability of RNA-seq (or DNA methylation) data of specific placental cell types enables prediction of cellular compositions in bulk tissue samples by using bioinformatic methods such as cellular deconvolution (5, 146). This approach has been applied to deconvolute bulk placental RNA-seq data obtained at various gestational stages and was able to identify significant increases in Hofbauer cells at T2 and leukocytes at T3 (118).

## **Trophoblast Cellular Mosaicism**

As the placenta ages, differences among trophoblasts increase, as reflected by increased variation in DNA sequences (37) and methylation patterns (92). Placentally derived DNA mutations were once thought to be scarce, as the human placenta has a life span of only  $\sim$ 38 weeks. Recent genomic studies, however, refute this hypothesis by pointing out an extraordinarily high mutation load in term placentas that results in mosaic patches of heterogenous STB differentiated from independent trophoblast lineages (37). Notably, the rates of nucleotide substitutions and structural variants in placental DNA were close to those in pediatric cancers known to have enhanced mutagenesis. Further analysis of the nucleotide substitution patterns suggested that 43% of placental DNA mutations may be associated with oxidative stress (37). Such a pattern is less frequent in cancers and is rare in healthy tissues. Oxidative stress can impair DNA integrity, shorten telomeres, induce senescence, and promote release of inflammatory cytokines in the placenta (27, 33). These processes are found to be positively correlated with gestational age and may underlie the pathogenesis of many pregnancy complications (27, 33). However, due to small sample sizes and exploratory designs, current studies of placental DNA are insufficient to draw meaningful conclusions on whether DNA mutations have functional consequences in the placenta, such as their influence on placental nutrient trafficking, whether DNA mutation patterns vary among trophoblast populations at different gestational stages with significant changes in oxygen and nutrition utilization, and how evolutionary forces that shape somatic DNA mutations differ between the embryo and the placenta. Larger-scale investigations of placental DNA using improved sequencing technologies are needed to answer these questions.

DNA mutations not only exist in the nuclear genome but also occur in the genome encapsulated in each mitochondrion in the cytoplasm [mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA)]. Human mtDNA encodes 13 protein subunits in four of the five oxidative phosphorylation protein complexes that fuel metabolic reactions critical for nutrient transport, hormone production, and epigenetic modification (83). Compared with nuclear DNA, mtDNA is more susceptible to mutations and oxidative damage, since mtDNA continues to replicate in nonproliferative cells and is in close proximity to reactive oxygen species released from the electron transport chain. This notion has been supported by a recent study showing an average of more than 20 mtDNA heteroplasmic mutations in 365 bulk term placentas using ultradeep mtDNA sequencing (22). The placental mtDNA mutation load was much higher than previously reported in umbilical cord blood or pediatric peripheral blood (136). Interestingly, placental mtDNA mutation load was increased in relation to maternal psychological stress, especially among participants of African descent (22). Maternal stress was also linked to reduced mtDNA content in the placenta in an earlier study of the same cohort (21). Of note, cells may increase mtDNA content in response to mtDNA defects to ensure mitochondrial function (55). This dynamic feature of mtDNA may explain why previous studies found inconsistent results regarding possible associations between changes in mtDNA content in placental tissue obtained from women experiencing pregnancy complications (83). Research that considers both quality and quantity of mtDNA markers as well as other mitochondrial parameters is needed to provide a comprehensive understanding of the role of mtDNA mutagenesis in placental health.

#### **FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

Over the past decade, significant advances have been made in our understanding of the molecular underpinnings of placental development, energy utilization, and nutrient trafficking. More research is needed to overcome inherent limitations in establishing the causality of the findings generated and their relationship to long-term health outcomes. Additional tools are needed to characterize nutrient flux across the STB and to identify biomarkers associated with impairments in this process that may increase risk of adverse pregnancy or birth outcomes. Genomic approaches have the potential to identify genes that may predict risk of impaired nutrient partitioning, placental development, and placental function. Marked health disparities in diseases associated with placental function exist, and work is needed to understand and eliminate these disparities. Last but not least, much of the focus on the placenta has centered on how this fetally derived organ impacts fetal health, but women who experience placental disorders associated with PE, IUGR, or PTB have been found to have a 2- to 10-fold increased risk of developing diabetes mellitus, chronic hypertension, cardiovascular disease, cerebrovascular disease, or metabolic symptoms compared with that of individuals with uncomplicated pregnancy outcomes (88, 114). Integration of multiomics data, data from single-cell experiments, and new technological advances that allow visualization of placental function in real time will provide new avenues to investigate placental responses to nutritional insults and ways to mitigate the impact of nutritional perturbations on health outcomes.

## **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge Dr. Philip Katzman for his helpful feedback and review of this manuscript. We would also like to thank Viveka Jain for her artwork and Angelina Tang for graphics assistance.

## LITERATURE CITED

- 1. ACOG. 2015. Practice bulletin no. 150: early pregnancy loss. Obstet. Gynecol. 125:1258-67
- Ahern DT, Bansal P, Armillei MK, Faustino IV, Kondaveeti Y, et al. 2022. Monosomy X in isogenic human iPSC-derived trophoblast model impacts expression modules preserved in human placenta. *PNAS* 119:e2211073119
- Akison LK, Nitert MD, Clifton VL, Moritz KM, Simmons DG. 2017. Review: alterations in placental glycogen deposition in complicated pregnancies: current preclinical and clinical evidence. *Placenta* 54:52–58
- Aplin JD, Myers JE, Timms K, Westwood M. 2020. Tracking placental development in health and disease. Nat. Rev. Endocrinol. 16:479–94
- 5. Avila Cobos F, Alquicira-Hernandez J, Powell JE, Mestdagh P, De Preter K. 2020. Benchmarking of cell type deconvolution pipelines for transcriptomics data. *Nat. Commun.* 11:5650
- Aye I, Gong S, Avellino G, Barbagallo R, Gaccioli F, et al. 2022. Placental sex-dependent spermine synthesis regulates trophoblast gene expression through acetyl-coA metabolism and histone acetylation. *Commun. Biol* 5:586
- 7. Baergen RN. 2005. Manual of Benirschke and Kaufmann's Pathology of the Human Placenta. New York: Springer
- 8. Bahr TM, Ward DM, Jia X, Ohls RK, German KR, Christensen RD. 2021. Is the erythropoietinerythroferrone-hepcidin axis intact in human neonates? *Blood Cells Mol. Dis.* 88:102536
- Barker DJ, Gluckman PD, Godfrey KM, Harding JE, Owens JA, et al. 1979. Placental hypertrophy in severe pregnancy anemia. Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 77:398–409
- Barker DJP. 2012. Sir Richard Doll Lecture. Developmental origins of chronic disease. *Public Health* 126:185–89
- 11. Bastian TW, Rao R, Tran PV, Georgieff MK. 2020. The effects of early-life iron deficiency on brain energy metabolism. *Neurosci. Insights* 15:2633105520935104
- 12. Battaglia FC, Regnault TR. 2001. Placental transport and metabolism of amino acids. Placenta 22:145-61
- 13. Beckert RH, Baer RJ, Anderson JG, Jelliffe-Pawlowski LL, Rogers EE. 2019. Maternal anemia and pregnancy outcomes: a population-based study. *J. Perinatol.* 39:911–19
- 14. Benson AE, Shatzel JJ, Ryan KS, Hedges MA, Martens K, et al. 2022. The incidence, complications, and treatment of iron deficiency in pregnancy. *Eur. J. Haematol.* 109:633–42

- Best CM, Pressman EK, Chang C, Cooper E, Guillet R, et al. 2016. Maternal iron status during pregnancy compared to neonatal iron status better predicts placental iron transporter expression in humans. *FASEB J*. 30:3541–50
- Bhattacharya A, Freedman AN, Avula V, Harris R, Liu W, et al. 2022. Placental genomics mediates genetic associations with complex health traits and disease. *Nat. Commun.* 13:706
- Block LN, Bowman BD, Schmidt JK, Keding LT, Stanic AK, Golos TG. 2021. The promise of placental extracellular vesicles: models and challenges for diagnosing placental dysfunction in uterodagger. *Biol. Reprod.* 104:27–57
- Bobinski R, Mikulska M. 2015. The ins and outs of maternal-fetal fatty acid metabolism. Acta Biochim. Pol. 62:499–507
- Braun AE, Mitchel OR, Gonzalez TL, Sun T, Flowers AE, et al. 2022. Sex at the interface: the origin and impact of sex differences in the developing human placenta. *Biol. Sex Differ*: 13:50
- Brown K, Heller DS, Zamudio S, Illsley NP. 2011. Glucose transporter 3 (GLUT3) protein expression in human placenta across gestation. *Placenta* 32:1041–49
- Brunst KJ, Sanchez Guerra M, Gennings C, Hacker M, Jara C, et al. 2017. Maternal lifetime stress and prenatal psychological functioning and decreased placental mitochondrial DNA copy number in the PRISM study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 186:1227–36
- Brunst KJ, Zhang L, Zhang X, Baccarelli AA, Bloomquist T, Wright RJ. 2021. Associations between maternal lifetime stress and placental mitochondrial DNA mutations in an urban multiethnic cohort. *Biol. Psychiatry* 89:570–78
- Burton GJ, Jauniaux E. 1995. Sonographic, stereological and Doppler flow velocimetric assessments of placental maturity. Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 102:818–25
- 24. Burton GJ, Jauniaux E. 2018. Development of the human placenta and fetal heart: synergic or independent? *Front. Physiol.* 9:373
- Burton GJ, Woods AW, Jauniaux E, Kingdom JC. 2009. Rheological and physiological consequences of conversion of the maternal spiral arteries for uteroplacental blood flow during human pregnancy. *Placenta* 30:473–82
- Calabuig-Navarro V, Haghiac M, Minium J, Glazebrook P, Ranasinghe GC, et al. 2017. Effect of maternal obesity on placental lipid metabolism. *Endocrinology* 158:2543–55
- Carroll A, Desforges M, Jones CJP, Heazell AEP. 2022. Morphological and functional changes in placentas from prolonged pregnancies. *Placenta* 125:29–35
- Carter RC, Georgieff MK, Ennis KM, Dodge NC, Wainwright H, et al. 2021. Prenatal alcohol-related alterations in maternal, placental, neonatal, and infant iron homeostasis. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 114:1107– 22
- Cetin I, Marconi AM, Baggiani AM, Buscaglia M, Pardi G, et al. 1995. In vivo placental transport of glycine and leucine in human pregnancies. *Pediatr: Res.* 37:571–75
- Cetin I, Ronzoni S, Marconi AM, Perugino G, Corbetta C, et al. 1996. Maternal concentrations and fetalmaternal concentration differences of plasma amino acids in normal and intrauterine growth-restricted pregnancies. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 174:1575–83
- Chatterjee S, Ouidir M, Tekola-Ayele F. 2021. Genetic and in utero environmental contributions to DNA methylation variation in placenta. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 30:1968–76
- Chen HJ, Attieh ZK, Syed BA, Kuo YM, Stevens V, et al. 2010. Identification of Zyklopen, a new member of the vertebrate multicopper ferroxidase family, and characterization in rodents and human cells. J. Nutr. 140:1728–35
- Cindrova-Davies T, Fogarty NME, Jones CJP, Kingdom J, Burton GJ. 2018. Evidence of oxidative stress-induced senescence in mature, post-mature and pathological human placentas. *Placenta* 68:15– 22
- Cindrova-Davies T, Sferruzzi-Perri AN. 2022. Human placental development and function. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 131:66–77
- Cleal JK, Glazier JD, Ntani G, Crozier SR, Day PE, et al. 2011. Facilitated transporters mediate net efflux of amino acids to the fetus across the basal membrane of the placental syncytiotrophoblast. *J. Physiol.* 589:987–97

- Cleal JK, Lofthouse EM, Sengers BG, Lewis RM. 2018. A systems perspective on placental amino acid transport. *J. Physiol.* 596:5511–22
- 37. Coorens THH, Oliver TRW, Sanghvi R, Sovio U, Cook E, et al. 2021. Inherent mosaicism and extensive mutation of human placentas. *Nature* 592:80–85
- de Angelis P, Miller RK, Darrah TH, Katzman PJ, Pressman EK, et al. 2017. Elemental content of the placenta: a comparison between two high-risk obstetrical populations, adult women carrying multiples and adolescents carrying singletons. *Environ. Res.* 158:553–65
- Delaney KM, Guillet R, Pressman EK, Ganz T, Nemeth E, O'Brien KO. 2021. Umbilical cord erythroferrone is inversely associated with hepcidin, but does not capture the most variability in iron status of neonates born to teens carrying singletons and women carrying multiples. *J. Nutr.* 151:2590–600
- Demir R, Kayisli UA, Celik-Ozenci C, Korgun ET, Demir-Weusten AY, Arici A. 2002. Structural differentiation of human uterine luminal and glandular epithelium during early pregnancy: an ultrastructural and immunohistochemical study. *Placenta* 23:672–84
- 41. Deyssenroth MA, Peng S, Hao K, Lambertini L, Marsit CJ, Chen J. 2017. Whole-transcriptome analysis delineates the human placenta gene network and its associations with fetal growth. *BMC Genom.* 18:520
- 42. Duttaroy AK, Basak S. 2020. Maternal dietary fatty acids and their roles in human placental development. *Prostaglandins Leukot. Essent. Fatty Acids* 155:102080
- Eisenberg T, Abdellatif M, Schroeder S, Primessnig U, Stekovic S, et al. 2016. Cardioprotection and lifespan extension by the natural polyamine spermidine. *Nat. Med.* 22:1428–38
- 44. Fallingborg J. 1999. Intraluminal pH of the human gastrointestinal tract. Dan. Med. Bull. 46:183-96
- Figueras F, Gardosi J. 2011. Intrauterine growth restriction: new concepts in antenatal surveillance, diagnosis, and management. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 204:288–300
- 46. Fisher AL, Nemeth E. 2017. Iron homeostasis during pregnancy. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 106:1567S-74S
- Fowden AL, Sferruzzi-Perri AN, Coan PM, Constancia M, Burton GJ. 2009. Placental efficiency and adaptation: endocrine regulation. *J. Physiol.* 587:3459–72
- 48. Frank H-G. 2017. Placental development. In *Fetal and Neonatal Physiology*, pp. 101–13. Amsterdam: Elsevier
- 49. Gaccioli F, Lager S. 2016. Placental nutrient transport and intrauterine growth restriction. *Front. Physiol.* 7:40
- Galan HL, Marconi AM, Paolini CL, Cheung A, Battaglia FC. 2009. The transplacental transport of essential amino acids in uncomplicated human pregnancies. *Am. 7. Obstet. Gynecol.* 200:91.e1–7
- 51. Gauster M, Moser G, Wernitznig S, Kupper N, Huppertz B. 2022. Early human trophoblast development: from morphology to function. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 79:345
- 52. Gazquez A, Prieto-Sanchez MT, Blanco-Carnero JE, Ruiz-Palacios M, Nieto A, et al. 2020. Altered materno-fetal transfer of 13C-polyunsaturated fatty acids in obese pregnant women. *Clin. Nutr.* 39:1101– 7
- Gazquez A, Prieto-Sanchez MT, Blanco-Carnero JE, van Harskamp D, Perazzolo S, et al. 2019. In vivo kinetic study of materno-fetal fatty acid transfer in obese and normal weight pregnant women. *J. Physiol.* 597:4959–73
- 54. Gil-Sanchez A, Demmelmair H, Parrilla JJ, Koletzko B, Larque E. 2011. Mechanisms involved in the selective transfer of long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids to the fetus. *Front. Genet.* 2:57
- 55. Giordano C, Iommarini L, Giordano L, Maresca A, Pisano A, et al. 2014. Efficient mitochondrial biogenesis drives incomplete penetrance in Leber's hereditary optic neuropathy. *Brain* 137:335–53
- 56. Gong S, Gaccioli F, Dopierala J, Sovio U, Cook E, et al. 2021. The RNA landscape of the human placenta in health and disease. *Nat. Commun.* 12:2639
- 57. Gong S, Sovio U, Aye IL, Gaccioli F, Dopierala J, et al. 2018. Placental polyamine metabolism differs by fetal sex, fetal growth restriction, and preeclampsia. *JCI Insight* 3:e120723
- Henriksen T, Roland MCP, Sajjad MU, Haugen G, Michelsen TM. 2022. Uteroplacental versus fetal use of glucose in healthy pregnancies at term. A human in vivo study. *Placenta* 128:116–22
- Herrera E, Desoye G. 2016. Maternal and fetal lipid metabolism under normal and gestational diabetic conditions. *Horm. Mol. Biol. Clin. Investig.* 26:109–27
- 60. Hirschmugl B, Perazzolo S, Sengers BG, Lewis RM, Gruber M, et al. 2021. Placental mobilization of free fatty acids contributes to altered materno-fetal transfer in obesity. *Int. J. Obes.* 45:1114–23

- 61. Illsley NP. 2000. Glucose transporters in the human placenta. Placenta 21:14-22
- Jaacks LM, Young MF, Essley BV, McNanley TJ, Cooper EM, et al. 2011. Placental expression of the heme transporter, feline leukemia virus subgroup C receptor, is related to maternal iron status in pregnant adolescents. *J. Nutr*: 141:1267–72
- James-Allan LB, Arbet J, Teal SB, Powell TL, Jansson T. 2019. Insulin stimulates GLUT4 trafficking to the syncytiotrophoblast basal plasma membrane in the human placenta. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 104:4255–38
- James JL, Boss AL, Sun C, Allerkamp HH, Clark AR. 2021. From stem cells to spiral arteries: a journey through early placental development. *Placenta* 125:68–77
- James JL, Chamley LW, Clark AR. 2017. Feeding your baby in utero: how the uteroplacental circulation impacts pregnancy. *Physiology* 32:234–45
- 66. James WH. 1975. Sex ratio in twin births. Ann. Hum. Biol. 2:365-78
- Janssen AB, Tunster SJ, Savory N, Holmes A, Beasley J, et al. 2015. Placental expression of imprinted genes varies with sampling site and mode of delivery. *Placenta* 36:790–95
- Jaskolka D, Retnakaran R, Zinman B, Kramer CK. 2015. Sex of the baby and risk of gestational diabetes mellitus in the mother: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetologia* 58:2469–75
- Jauniaux E, Gulbis B, Gerloo E. 1999. Free amino acids in human fetal liver and fluids at 12–17 weeks of gestation. *Hum. Reprod.* 14:1638–41
- Jauniaux E, Watson AL, Hempstock J, Bao YP, Skepper JN, Burton GJ. 2000. Onset of maternal arterial blood flow and placental oxidative stress. A possible factor in human early pregnancy failure. *Am. J. Pathol.* 157:2111–22
- Jensen OE, Chernyavsky IE. 2019. Blood flow and transport in the human placenta. Annu. Rev. Fluid Mecb. 51:25–47
- Jiang S, Teague AM, Tryggestad JB, Aston CE, Lyons T, Chernausek SD. 2017. Effects of maternal diabetes and fetal sex on human placenta mitochondrial biogenesis. *Placenta* 57:26–32
- Jones CJ, Choudhury RH, Aplin JD. 2015. Tracking nutrient transfer at the human maternofetal interface from 4 weeks to term. *Placenta* 36:372–80
- Karahoda R, Zaugg J, Fuenzalida B, Kallol S, Moser-Haessig R, et al. 2022. Trophoblast differentiation affects crucial nutritive functions of placental membrane transporters. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 10:820286
- Kertschanska S, Kosanke G, Kaufmann P. 1997. Pressure dependence of so-called transtrophoblastic channels during fetal perfusion of human placental villi. *Microsc. Res. Tech.* 38:52–62
- Kuzawa CW. 1998. Adipose tissue in human infancy and childhood: an evolutionary perspective. Am. J. Phys. Anthropol. 107(Suppl. 27):177–209
- 77. Lager S, Powell TL. 2012. Regulation of nutrient transport across the placenta. J. Pregnancy 2012:179827
- Larque E, Pagan A, Prieto MT, Blanco JE, Gil-Sanchez A, et al. 2014. Placental fatty acid transfer: a key factor in fetal growth. *Ann. Nutr. Metab.* 64:247–53
- 79. Liu D, Chen Y, Ren Y, Yuan P, Wang N, et al. 2022. Primary specification of blastocyst trophectoderm by scRNA-seq: new insights into embryo implantation. *Sci. Adv.* 8:eabj3725
- Liu X, Fei H, Yang C, Wang J, Zhu X, et al. 2022. Trophoblast-derived extracellular vesicles promote preeclampsia by regulating macrophage polarization. *Hypertension* 79:2274–87
- Liu Y, Fan X, Wang R, Lu X, Dang YL, et al. 2018. Single-cell RNA-seq reveals the diversity of trophoblast subtypes and patterns of differentiation in the human placenta. *Cell Res.* 28:819–32
- Lofthouse EM, Perazzolo S, Brooks S, Crocker IP, Glazier JD, et al. 2016. Phenylalanine transfer across the isolated perfused human placenta: an experimental and modeling investigation. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 310:R828–36
- Lu M, Sferruzzi-Perri AN. 2021. Placental mitochondrial function in response to gestational exposures. *Placenta* 104:124–37
- 84. Ma Q, Beal JR, Bhurke A, Kannan A, Yu J, et al. 2022. Extracellular vesicles secreted by human uterine stromal cells regulate decidualization, angiogenesis, and trophoblast differentiation. *PNAS* 119:e2200252119
- Macklon NS, Pieters MH, Hassan MA, Jeucken PH, Eijkemans MJ, Fauser BC. 2002. A prospective randomized comparison of sequential versus monoculture systems for in-vitro human blastocyst development. *Hum. Reprod.* 17:2700–5

- 86. Martin-Estal I, Castorena-Torres F. 2022. Gestational diabetes mellitus and energy-dense diet: What is the role of the insulin/IGF axis? *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:916042
- 87. Meier PR, Peterson RG, Bonds DR, Meschia G, Battaglia FC. 1981. Rates of protein synthesis and turnover in fetal life. *Am. J. Physiol.* 240:E320–24
- 88. Melchiorre K, Thilaganathan B, Giorgione V, Ridder A, Memmo A, Khalil A. 2020. Hypertensive disorders of pregnancy and future cardiovascular health. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 7:59
- Middleton P, Shepherd E, Morris J, Crowther CA, Gomersall JC. 2020. Induction of labour at or beyond 37 weeks' gestation. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 7:CD004945
- Mitsuda N, Eitoku M, Yamasaki K, NA J-P, Fujieda M, et al. 2022. Association between the ratio of placental weight to birthweight and the risk of neurodevelopmental delay in 3-year-olds: the Japan Environment and Children's Study. *Placenta* 128:49–56
- 91. Negre-Salvayre A, Swiader A, Salvayre R, Guerby P. 2022. Oxidative stress, lipid peroxidation and premature placental senescence in preeclampsia. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 730:109416
- 92. Novakovic B, Yuen RK, Gordon L, Penaherrera MS, Sharkey A, et al. 2011. Evidence for widespread changes in promoter methylation profile in human placenta in response to increasing gestational age and environmental/stochastic factors. *BMC Genom.* 12:529
- O'Brien KO. 2022. Maternal, fetal and placental regulation of placental iron trafficking. *Placenta* 125:47– 53
- Paolini CL, Marconi AM, Pike AW, Fennessey PV, Pardi G, Battaglia FC. 2001. A multiple infusion start time (MIST) protocol for stable isotope studies of fetal blood. *Placenta* 22:171–76
- Paolini CL, Marconi AM, Ronzoni S, Di Noio M, Fennessey PV, et al. 2001. Placental transport of leucine, phenylalanine, glycine, and proline in intrauterine growth-restricted pregnancies. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 86:5427–32
- Pavlicev M, Wagner GP, Chavan AR, Owens K, Maziarz J, et al. 2017. Single-cell transcriptomics of the human placenta: inferring the cell communication network of the maternal-fetal interface. *Genome Res.* 27:349–61
- Petry CJ, Olga L, Hughes IA, Ong KK. 2022. Associations between maternal iron supplementation in pregnancy and offspring growth and cardiometabolic risk outcomes in infancy and childhood. *PLOS* ONE 17:e0263148
- 98. Phung TN, Olney KC, Pinto BJ, Silasi M, Perley L, et al. 2022. X chromosome inactivation in the human placenta is patchy and distinct from adult tissues. *HGG Adv.* 3:100121
- Popovic M, Chuva de Sousa Lopes SM. 2022. Emerging in vitro platforms and omics technologies for studying the endometrium and early embryo-maternal interface in humans. *Placenta* 125:36–46
- 100. Prater M, Hamilton RS, Wa Yung H, Sharkey AM, Robson P, et al. 2021. RNA-Seq reveals changes in human placental metabolism, transport and endocrinology across the first-second trimester transition. *Biol. Open* 10:bio058222
- Redline RW, Roberts DJ, Parast MM, Ernst LM, Morgan TK, et al. 2022. Placental pathology is necessary to understand common pregnancy complications and achieve an improved taxonomy of obstetric disease. Am. 7. Obstet. Gynecol. 228:187–202
- Regnault TR, de Vrijer B, Battaglia FC. 2002. Transport and metabolism of amino acids in placenta. Endocrine 19:23–41
- 103. Retnakaran R, Kramer CK, Ye C, Kew S, Hanley AJ, et al. 2015. Fetal sex and maternal risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: the impact of having a boy. *Diabetes Care* 38:844–51
- 104. Roland MC, Friis CM, Godang K, Bollerslev J, Haugen G, Henriksen T. 2014. Maternal factors associated with fetal growth and birthweight are independent determinants of placental weight and exhibit differential effects by fetal sex. *PLOS ONE* 9:e87303
- 105. Ru Y, Pressman E, Guillet R, Cooper B, Katzman P, et al. 2014. Variable iron status among twins and triplets at birth. *FASEB J*. 28:636.3
- 106. Sangkhae V, Fisher AL, Wong S, Koenig MD, Tussing-Humphreys L, et al. 2020. Effects of maternal iron status on placental and fetal iron homeostasis. *J. Clin. Investig.* 130:625–40
- Sferruzzi-Perri AN, Lopez-Tello J, Napso T, Yong HEJ. 2020. Exploring the causes and consequences of maternal metabolic maladaptations during pregnancy: lessons from animal models. *Placenta* 98:43–51

- Sibao L, Yufeng W, Peihong Q, Diao W. 2015. The role of serum hepcidin and ferroportin 1 in placenta on iron transfer from mother to fetus. *Zhonghua Xueyexue Zazhi* 36:307–11
- Sibiak R, Ozegowska K, Wender-Ozegowska E, Gutaj P, Mozdziak P, Kempisty B. 2022. Fetomaternal expression of glucose transporters (GLUTs)—biochemical, cellular and clinical aspects. *Nutrients* 14:2025
- Simpson S, Smith L, Bowe J. 2018. Placental peptides regulating islet adaptation to pregnancy: clinical potential in gestational diabetes mellitus. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* 43:59–65
- 111. Smith MD, Pillman K, Jankovic-Karasoulos T, McAninch D, Wan Q, et al. 2021. Large-scale transcriptome-wide profiling of microRNAs in human placenta and maternal plasma at early to mid gestation. *RNA Biol.* 18:507–20
- Sood R, Zehnder JL, Druzin ML, Brown PO. 2006. Gene expression patterns in human placenta. PNAS 103:5478–83
- 113. Sparks JW. 1984. Human intrauterine growth and nutrient accretion. Semin. Perinatol. 8:74-93
- Staff AC, Redman CW, Williams D, Leeson P, Moe K, et al. 2016. Pregnancy and long-term maternal cardiovascular health: progress through harmonization of research cohorts and biobanks. *Hypertension* 67:251–60
- Stanirowski PJ, Lipa M, Bomba-Opon D, Wielgos M. 2021. Expression of placental glucose transporter proteins in pregnancies complicated by fetal growth disorders. *Adv. Protein. Chem. Struct. Biol.* 123:95– 131
- Stewart MD, Johnson GA, Gray CA, Burghardt RC, Schuler LA, et al. 2000. Prolactin receptor and uterine milk protein expression in the ovine endometrium during the estrous cycle and pregnancy. *Biol. Reprod.* 62:1779–89
- Surekha MV, Sujatha T, Gadhiraju S, Uday Kumar P, Kotturu SK, et al. 2022. Impact of maternal iron deficiency anaemia on the expression of the newly discovered multi-copper ferroxidase, Zyklopen, in term placentas. *J. Obstet. Gynaecol.* 42:74–82
- Suryawanshi H, Max K, Bogardus KA, Sopeyin A, Chang MS, et al. 2022. Dynamic genome-wide gene expression and immune cell composition in the developing human placenta. *J. Reprod. Immunol.* 151:103624
- Suryawanshi H, Morozov P, Straus A, Sahasrabudhe N, Max KEA, et al. 2018. A single-cell survey of the human first-trimester placenta and decidua. *Sci. Adv.* 4:eaau4788
- 120. Szuszkiewicz J, Myszczynski K, Reliszko ZP, Heifetz Y, Kaczmarek MM. 2022. Early steps of embryo implantation are regulated by exchange of extracellular vesicles between the embryo and the endometrium. *EASEB J*. 36:e22450
- 121. Tekola-Ayele F, Zeng X, Chatterjee S, Ouidir M, Lesseur C, et al. 2022. Placental multi-omics integration identifies candidate functional genes for birthweight. *Nat. Commun.* 13:2384
- 122. Thursby E, Juge N. 2017. Introduction to the human gut microbiota. Biochem. J. 474:1823-36
- 123. Tint MT, Sadananthan SA, Soh SE, Aris IM, Michael N, et al. 2020. Maternal glycemia during pregnancy and offspring abdominal adiposity measured by MRI in the neonatal period and preschool years: the Growing Up in Singapore Towards Healthy Outcomes (GUSTO) prospective mother–offspring birth cohort study. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 112:39–47
- Tsang JCH, Vong JSL, Ji L, Poon LCY, Jiang P, et al. 2017. Integrative single-cell and cell-free plasma RNA transcriptomics elucidates placental cellular dynamics. *PNAS* 114:E7786–95
- Tukiainen T, Villani AC, Yen A, Rivas MA, Marshall JL, et al. 2017. Landscape of X chromosome inactivation across human tissues. *Nature* 550:244–48
- Tunster SJ, Watson ED, Fowden AL, Burton GJ. 2020. Placental glycogen stores and fetal growth: insights from genetic mouse models. *Reproduction* 159:R213–35
- 127. Tussing-Humphreys L, LaBomascus B, O'Brien K, Nemeth E, Sangkhae V, et al. 2021. Prepregnancy obesity does not impact placental iron trafficking. J. Nutr. 151:2646–54
- Tuuli MG, Longtine MS, Nelson DM. 2011. Review: oxygen and trophoblast biology—a source of controversy. *Placenta* 32(Suppl. 2):S109–18
- 129. Tyrmi JS, Kaartokallio T, Lokki I, Jääskeläinen T, Kortelainen E, et al. 2022. GWAS of preeclampsia and hypertensive disorders of pregnancy uncovers genes related to cardiometabolic,

endothelial and placental function. medRxiv 2022.05.19.22275002. https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2022.05.19.22275002v2

- Ursini G, Punzi G, Chen Q, Marenco S, Robinson JF, et al. 2018. Convergence of placenta biology and genetic risk for schizophrenia. *Nat. Med.* 24:792–801
- Ursini G, Punzi G, Langworthy BW, Chen Q, Xia K, et al. 2021. Placental genomic risk scores and early neurodevelopmental outcomes. *PNAS* 118:e2019789118
- 132. Vento-Tormo R, Efremova M, Botting RA, Turco MY, Vento-Tormo M, et al. 2018. Single-cell reconstruction of the early maternal-fetal interface in humans. *Nature* 563:347–53
- 133. Wander PL, Boyko EJ, Hevner K, Parikh VJ, Tadesse MG, et al. 2017. Circulating early- and midpregnancy microRNAs and risk of gestational diabetes. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 132:1–9
- 134. Wang Q, Li J, Wang S, Deng Q, An Y, et al. 2022. Single-cell transcriptional profiling reveals cellular and molecular divergence in human maternal–fetal interface. *Sci. Rep.* 12:10892
- 135. Wang X, Chen C, Wang L, Chen D, Guang W, French J. 2003. Conception, early pregnancy loss, and time to clinical pregnancy: a population-based prospective study. *Fertil. Steril.* 79:577–84
- 136. Wang Y, Guo X, Hong X, Wang G, Pearson C, et al. 2022. Association of mitochondrial DNA content, heteroplasmies and inter-generational transmission with autism. *Nat. Commun.* 13:3790
- Widdowson EM. 1968. Growth and composition of the foetus and newborn. In *The Biology of Gestation*, ed. N Assali, pp. 1–49. New York: Academic
- 138. Widdowson EM, Spray CM. 1951. Chemical development in utero. Arch. Dis. Child. 26:205-14
- 139. Xiang L, Yin Y, Zheng Y, Ma Y, Li Y, et al. 2020. A developmental landscape of 3D-cultured human pre-gastrulation embryos. *Nature* 577:537–42
- 140. Xu P, Ma Y, Wu H, Wang YL. 2021. Placenta-derived microRNAs in the pathophysiology of human pregnancy. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 9:646326
- 141. Yajnik CS, Yajnik PC. 2020. Fetal adiposity epidemic in the modern world: a thrifty phenotype aggravated by maternal obesity and diabetes. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 112:8–10
- 142. Yampolsky M, Salafia CM, Shlakhter O, Haas D, Eucker B, Thorp J. 2009. Centrality of the umbilical cord insertion in a human placenta influences the placental efficiency. *Placenta* 30:1058–64
- 143. Yang Y, Guo F, Peng Y, Chen R, Zhou W, et al. 2021. Transcriptomic profiling of human placenta in gestational diabetes mellitus at the single-cell level. *Front. Endocrinol.* 12:679582
- 144. Young MF, Griffin I, Pressman E, McIntyre AW, Cooper E, et al. 2012. Maternal hepcidin is associated with placental transfer of iron derived from dietary heme and nonheme sources. *J. Nutr.* 142:33–39
- 145. Young MF, Pressman E, Foehr ML, McNanley T, Cooper E, et al. 2010. Impact of maternal and neonatal iron status on placental transferrin receptor expression in pregnant adolescents. *Placenta* 31:1010–14
- 146. Yuan V, Hui D, Yin Y, Penaherrera MS, Beristain AG, Robinson WP. 2021. Cell-specific characterization of the placental methylome. *BMC Genom.* 22:6
- 147. Kennedy KM, de Goffau MC, Perez-Muñoz ME, Arrieta M-C, Bäckhed F, et al. 2023. Questioning the fetal microbiome illustrates pitfalls of low-biomass microbial studies. *Nature* 613:639–49
- 148. Zaugg J, Solenthaler F, Albrecht C. 2022. Materno-fetal iron transfer and the emerging role of ferroptosis pathways. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 202:115141
- 149. Zhang H, Alsaleh G, Feltham J, Sun Y, Napolitano G, et al. 2019. Polyamines control eIF5A hypusination, TFEB translation, and autophagy to reverse B cell senescence. *Mol. Cell* 76:110–25.e9